#### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Circuit Court of Randolph County erred in its denial of Petitioner, Kristin L. Hunnicutt's ("Petitioner" or "Ms. Kristin Hunnicutt") motion to dismiss and in its refusal to refer the parties' dispute to arbitration as required by their binding arbitration agreement. The arbitration agreement is valid, enforceable, and applicable to all known and unknown claims accruing at any time prior to the agreement's effective date. Not only did the claims at issue accrue prior to the arbitration agreement's effective date, but also the agreement expressly delegates the arbitrability of claims to an arbitrator. For these reasons, and under the law strongly favoring arbitration agreements, Ms. Kristin Hunnicutt seeks an order reversing the ruling of the circuit court and referring the claim to arbitration.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal relates to a February 4, 2022 lawsuit initiated by Respondent, Susan H. Hunnicutt, against her sister, Ms. Kristin Hunnicutt, as well as two parties who are non-participants in this appeal—Larry S. Barger and Inter-State Hardwoods, Inc. [J.A. 5-10.] The underlying lawsuit is based upon a single cause of action for trespass to timber. [J.A. 9-10.] The trespass to timber claim arises from a September 10, 2010 Timber Sale Agreement and subsequent timbering activities performed between 2010 and approximately November 2012. [J.A. 12-17.]

More than two years later, on December 10, 2014, Respondent initiated a separate and unrelated civil suit against Petitioner in connection with the sisters' dispute over the inheritance of their father's estate ("the Estate Action"). [J.A. 35.] The Estate Action was resolved by way of a May 5, 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement*. [J.A. 35-39.] Per the parties' settlement agreement, Petitioner paid Respondent the sum of \$475,000.00 in exchange for a "global release" of any and all claims, whether known or unknown, that accrued on or before the date of receipt of

the settlement proceeds. [J.A. 35-36, 40.] Specifically, the parties' Release and Settlement

Agreement provides:

Global Release. Upon receipt of the Settlement Payment pursuant to Section 4 of this Agreement, and without more, SUSAN for herself (and for her agents, heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns) forever releases, remises, indemnifies, and fully discharges KRIS, individually (and KRIS's agents, heirs, personal representatives, successors, and assigns), from any and all claims, controversies, suits, demands, obligations, allegations (express and implied), rights, responsibilities, duties, obligations, remedies (including for any past or future accounting, fiduciary removal, or any other equitable entitlement or expectancy whatever), causes of action (and any and all related damages, payment, property, property interest, liabilities, losses, fees, attorney's fees, interest, costs, and expenses), including, but not limited to, the CONTROVERSIES (as defined in this Agreement), of any kind or character, whether now known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, whether sounding at law or in equity, whether arising by statute or under the common law, and whether provided for by state or federal law, which SUSAN has or may have, directly or indirectly, legally or beneficially, from the beginning of the world through the date of SUSAN's receipt of the Settlement Payment[.]

[J.A. 36.] (Emphasis added). The parties' settlement was perfected when Respondent endorsed and deposited the settlement check on or about May 18, 2015. [J.A. 36, 40.] At that time, in accordance with the parties' agreement, Respondent released any and all claims against Petitioner, irrespective of kind or character, whether known or unknown, which had accrued "from the beginning of the world" through her May 18, 2015 receipt of the settlement payment. [J.A. 36.]

Given the comprehensive nature of this "global release," the parties also negotiated and agreed to a mandatory alternative dispute resolution provision ("the Arbitration Provision"). [J.A. 37-38.] The Arbitration Provision applies to any and all claims, causes of action, disputes, and controversies between the parties (with the limited exception of the proceedings dismissing and/or enforcing the settlement of the Estate Action). [J.A. 37.] The Arbitration Provision is as follows:

12. <u>Mandatory</u>, <u>Binding</u>, and <u>Final Alternative Dispute</u> <u>Resolution: Wavier of Jury Trial; Venue</u>. Except as set forth in Section 11 of this Agreement, the Parties to this Agreement agree that **any and all claims**, **causes of action**, **disputes**, **and/or controversies** (the "Dispute" or "Disputes"), whether based on federal or state law, statute or common law, and whether sounding at law or in equity, arising from, related to, or in connection with this Agreement, including any modification and/or amendment thereto, any breach or alleged breach thereof, and/or the construction or interpretation of the terms and conditions thereof shall be resolved **exclusively** as follows.

Any Dispute shall be subject, first, to mandatory participatory or inperson mediation in Fairfax County, Virginia. The mediation shall be limited to two (2) days' participatory or in-person mediation, with each participant receiving equal time before the mediator. No pre-mediation discovery shall be requested or permitted. If the mediation does not fully resolve the Parties' Dispute or Disputes, the remaining Dispute or Disputes shall be **required to be submitted to mandatory, binding, and final arbitration** in accordance with the then current arbitration rules of Juridical Solutions, PLC or the McCammon Group.

This Agreement's arbitrability shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act. No Party hereto shall be entitled to a trial by judge or jury in any court. A trial by jury is hereby expressly waived by the Parties hereto. Any arbitration shall be held before a single arbitrator, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by all of the Parties to the arbitration. Administrative costs; if any, of mediation or arbitration shall be paid by the Party initiating arbitration; any and all fees of the arbitrator first shall be paid by the Party initiating arbitration; provided, however, that the substantially prevailing party as to any Dispute or as to any defendant to a Dispute shall be entitled, in addition to any other rights or remedies available to an award of reasonable attorney's fees and costs in the prosecution or defense of such Dispute. The exclusive venue for any arbitration shall be Fairfax County, Virginia, which shall be deemed to be a neutral and convenient forum.

[J.A. 37-38.] (Emphasis added).<sup>1</sup>

Stated simply, the Arbitration Provision reflects the parties' agreement to relinquish the right to bring before a judge or jury any claims, causes of action, disputes, or controversies related to the *Release and Settlement Agreement*. [J.A. 37.] Rather, the parties chose to resolve any and all such claims, as well as claims relating to "the construction and interpretation of the terms and conditions" of the *Release and Settlement Agreement Agreement*, "exclusively" through mediation followed by binding arbitration. [J.A. 37.] The parties further agreed that Fairfax County, Virginia would be the "exclusive venue" for any such claims. [J.A. 38.]

The underlying trespass to timber claim accrued prior to the execution of the *Release and Settlement Agreement* and, thus, was released (as were all other claims, causes of action, disputes, and controversies which accrued prior to Respondent's receipt of the settlement proceeds). In exchange for the release of these claims, Respondent received \$475,000.00. [J.A. 36, 40.]

Respondent now seeks to claw back her prior release of the claims and seeks to avoid her agreement to the Arbitration Provision in order to prosecute the trespass to timber claim in the Randolph County Circuit Court. [J.A. 5-10.] The Circuit Court of Randolph County, however, is not the appropriate forum because the parties previously agreed that such claims would be "resolved exclusively" through the Arbitration Provision with Fairfax County, Virginia being the

[J.A. 37.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Arbitration Provision references Section 11 of the Release and Settlement Agreement. That section provides:

Jurisdiction: Venue: ADR. A motion to enforce the final dismissal with prejudice of the [Estate Action], and a motion to enforce the Settlement Payment . . . shall be made in the U.S. District Court, Eastern District of Virginia, Alexandria Division. After the Settlement Payment is received and clears and the final dismissal with prejudice of the [Estate Action] is entered by the court . . . any and all other claims, causes of action, disputes, and controversies shall be governed by the mandatory, binding, and final alternative dispute resolution provisions of Section 12 of this Agreement.

"exclusive venue." [J.A. 37-38.] Therefore, Petitioner moved to dismiss for "lack of jurisdiction and improper venue," and, further, asked that the matter be "compelled to alternative dispute resolution in Fairfax County, Virginia" in accordance with the parties' binding contractual obligation. [J.A. 24-31.]

Tellingly, in the response to Petitioner's dismissal motion, Respondent did not challenge the validity of the Arbitration Provision and made no effort to address the jurisdictional and venue arguments. [J.A. 43-52.] The circuit court nevertheless denied the motion. In so doing, the court stated from the bench "if there is a valid arbitration agreement the Hunnicutt sisters will have to go to arbitration but I don't know whether that valid – that arbitration agreement in the release relating to dad's estate is applicable and can be enforced in dealing with mom's estate." [J.A. 82.] The circuit court entered a four-paragraph order reflecting its ruling. [J.A. 92-93.] The order failed to set forth findings of fact and conclusions of law; rather, it stated only that the denial was based "upon the record this day." [J.A. 92.] That order forms the basis of the instant appeal.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Arbitration agreements are binding contracts that must be enforced pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. § 1 *et seq. See e.g., Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc.,* 139 S. Ct. 524, 529, 202 L. Ed. 2d 480 (2018); *Rent-A-Center, W., Inc. v. Jackson*, 561 U.S. 63, 67, 130 S. Ct. 2772, 2777-78, 177 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2010). As binding contracts, courts are not permitted to disregard their terms or rewrite the provisions to change their meaning. *See e.g., Geological Assessment & Leasing v. O'Hara*, 236 W. Va. 381, 780 S.E.2d 647 (2015). Instead, courts are only permitted to determine if the agreement is valid and whether the dispute falls within its scope. If the court answers these two questions in the affirmative, it must enforce the arbitration agreement. *See* Syl. pt. 1, *Baker Mine Serv. v. Nutter*, 171 W. Va. 770, 301 S.E.2d 860 (1983).

In this case, it is not disputed that the Arbitration Provision is valid; thus, the primary issue to be decided on appeal is whether the underlying trespass to timber dispute falls within the scope of the *Release and Settlement Agreement* such that it must be resolved exclusively through the Arbitration Provision. Because the trespass to timber claim accrued before Respondent discharged all known and unknown causes of action against Petitioner, the claim is encompassed by the *Release and Settlement Agreement* and, in turn, is subject to that agreement's Arbitration Provision.

The plain terms of the Arbitration Provision provide that any issues related to the *Release* and Settlement Agreement—including "the construction or interpretation of" the *Release and* Settlement Agreement—are to be "resolved exclusively" through mediation and binding arbitration. [J.A. 37-38.] A claim that was released as part of Respondent's global release is certainly related to the *Release and Settlement Agreement* and comes within the scope of the Arbitration Provision. What is more, this "gateway" question regarding the scope of the Arbitration Provision and its application to the trespass to timber claim is delegated to the arbitrator because the parties agreed that matters of "construction or interpretation" of their agreement are also to be resolved exclusively through alternative dispute resolution. [J.A. 37.] Consequently, the circuit court is not the appropriate forum for the trespass to timber claim or questions surrounding its arbitrability. The circuit court's decision therefore should be reversed and the matter should be remanded for the entry of an order dismissing the case and enforcing the Arbitration Provision.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

This matter involves an assignment of error in the application of settled law. Petitioner requests oral argument in accordance with Rule 19(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.

6

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The underlying order is an interlocutory ruling subject to immediate appeal and *de novo* review by this Court. *See Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W. Va. 518, 525, 745 S.E.2d 556, 563 (2013); *see also* Syl. pt. 4, *Ewing v. Board of Educ. of Cnty. of Summers*, 202 W. Va. 228, 503 S.E.2d 541 (1998); *accord* Syl. pt. 1, *W. Va. CVS Pharmacy, LLC v. McDowell Pharmacy*, 238 W. Va. 465, 796 S.E.2d 547 (2017) ("When an appeal from an order denying and motion to dismiss and to compel arbitration is properly before this Court, our review is *de novo*.")

#### ARGUMENT

The law of arbitration has been extensively litigated in West Virginia. Thus, the Court is well aware of the principles governing the application of the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), 9 U.S.C. § 1 *et seq.* and the recognition that it applies broadly. The central purpose of the FAA "is to ensure that private agreements to arbitrate are enforced according to their terms." *Stolt-Nielsen S.A. v. Animal Feeds Int'l Corp.*, 559 U.S. 662, 682, 130 S. Ct. 1758, 176 L. Ed. 605 (2010) (quotations omitted). The FAA reflects an "emphatic federal policy in favor of arbitration." *KPMG LLP v. Cocchi*, 565 U.S. 18, 21, 132 S. Ct. 23, 181 L. Ed. 323 (2011). It leaves "no place for the exercise of discretion" but instead commands both state and federal courts to "rigorously enforce" arbitration agreements. *See Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. v. Byrd*, 470 U.S. 213, 218, 105 S. Ct. 1238, 84 L. Ed. 158 (1985); *see also Perry v. Thomas*, 482 U.S. 483, 489-90, 107 S. Ct. 2520, 96 L.Ed.2d 426 (1987), *Southland Corp. v. Keating*, 465 U.S. 1, 12, 103 S. Ct. 2199, 76 L. Ed. 372 (1984).

Under the FAA, arbitration is proper when there is a valid written agreement covering the asserted claims. 9 U.S.C. § 2. That is, the FAA limits the court's consideration when evaluating the enforceability of an arbitration agreement:

When a party to an arbitration agreement makes a motion to dismiss a complaint and to compel arbitration, the power of the trial court to proceed in the case is constrained. "In the context of cases affected by the Federal Arbitration Act, we have found that courts are limited to weighing only two questions: does a valid arbitration agreement exist? And do the claims at issue in the case fall within the scope of the arbitration agreement?"

Bayles v. Evans, 842 S.E.2d 235, 2020 W. Va. LEXIS 258, 2020 WL 1982894 (quoting Golden Eagle Res., II, L.L.C. v. Willow Run Energy, L.L.C., 836 S.E.2d 23, 29 (W. Va. 2019); accord Syl. pt. 2, State ex rel. TD Ameritrade, Inc. v. Kaufman, 225 W. Va. 250, 692 S.E.2d 293 (2010).

In analyzing these questions, this Court has recognized that it is required to "construe liberally the arbitration clauses to find that they cover disputes reasonably contemplated by the language and to resolve doubts in favor of arbitration." *State ex rel. City Holding Co. v. Kaufman*, 216 W. Va. 594, 598, 609 S.E.2d 855, 859 (2004). Moreover, where parties to a contract bargained for and agreed to an arbitration provision, the "provision is binding and specifically enforceable." Syl. pt. 1, *Baker Mine Serv.*, 171 W. Va. 770, 301 S.E.2d 860 (in part) (internal citation omitted). It is within this framework that the subject Arbitration Provision must be evaluated and applied. *See Schumacher Homes of Circleville, Inc. v. Spencer*, 235 W. Va. 335, 339, 774 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2015).

# I. A Valid Arbitration Agreement Exists Between the Parties and Must Be Enforced.

This Court has made clear that the burden of establishing *prima facie* evidence of an agreement to arbitrate is a light one. "A party 'me[ets] the prima facie burden by providing copies of [a] written and signed agreement[] to arbitrate." *State ex rel. Troy Grp., Inc. v. Sims*, 244 W. Va. 203, 210, 852 S.E.2d 270, 277 (2020) (citing *MHC Kenworth-Knoxville/Nashville v. M & H Trucking, LLC*, 392 S.W.3d 903, 906 (Ky. 2013)) (internal citation omitted). "This does not require the movant to show the 'agreement would be enforceable, merely that one existed." *Sims*, 244 W.

Va. at 210, 852 S.E.2d at 277 (internal citations omitted). There is no dispute that an arbitration agreement exists between Petitioner and Respondent.

Furthermore, there can be no dispute that the arbitration agreement is valid. Section 2 of the FAA recognizes that an agreement to arbitrate is a contract and, thus, controlled by the state law governing contracts. Under West Virginia law, "[t]he fundamentals of a legal 'contract' are competent parties, legal subject-matter, valuable consideration, and mutual assent. There can be no contract if there is one of these essential elements upon which the minds of the parties are not in agreement." Syl. pt. 9, *Ways v. Imation Enters. Corp.*, 214 W. Va. 305, 308, 589 S.E.2d 36, 39 (2003). In order for there to be mutual assent, "there must be an offer by one party and an acceptance on another." *Id.* at 313, 44. "Both the offer and acceptance may be by word, act or conduct that evince the intention of the parties to contract. That their minds have met may be shown by direct evidence of an actual agreement[.]" *Id.* (quoting *Bailey v. Sewell Coal Co.*, 190 W. Va. 138, 140-41, 437 S.E.2d 448, 450-51 (1993).

All four of the "fundamentals" or "essential elements" of a legal contract are present with respect to the Arbitration Provision. First, there is no evidence of incompetence. In fact, both Petitioner and Respondent were represented by separate counsel in reaching their agreement. [J.A. 38.] Second, an agreement to arbitrate is unquestionably legal subject matter. *State ex rel. U-Haul Co. v. Zakaib*, 232 W. Va. 432, 752 S.E.2d 586 (2013). Third, valuable consideration was exchanged insofar as the parties entered into a reciprocal arbitration agreement. [J.A. 37.] This fact alone is sufficient consideration. *See Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson*, 230 W. Va. 281, 287, 737 S.E.2d 550, 556 (2012). Additionally, the agreement was supported by payment of \$475,000.00 to Respondent. [J.A. 36, 40.] Lastly, mutual assent to the Arbitration Provision is evidenced by the parties' endorsement of the *Release and Settlement Agreement*. [J.A. 39.] Respondent's intent to

be bound by the terms of the *Release and Settlement Agreement*, including its Arbitration Provision, was manifested when she executed the document. Indeed, Respondent's signature demonstrates that she assented to the Arbitration Provision and "intended to enforce the contract as drafted." *New v. GameStop, Inc.*, 232 W. Va. 564, 578, 753 S.E.2d 62, 76 (2013).

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