DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE





KRISTIN L. HUNNICUTT,

Petitioner,

FILE COPY

V.

Appeal from order of the Circuit Court of Randolph County Civil Action No. 22-C-15

SUSAN H. HUNNICUTT,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Submitted on behalf of Respondent,

Susan H. Hunnicutt,

By:

Jonathan G. Brill Esq. Jonathan G. Brill, PLLC W.Va. State Bar I.D. # 11316 332 E Main Street Romney, WV 26757

Phone: (304) 822-7110 Fax: (304) 822-7109

Email: jonathan@jonathangbrill.com

John D. Athey, Esq. W.Va. State Bar ID #9744 Athey Law Building 149 Armstrong Street Keyser, West Virginia 26726 Phone: (304) 788-9292

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

VI. ARGUMENT

The 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement entered into for purposes of settling claims surrounding their father's trust and estate does not apply to the underlying controversy because it was not contemplated as part of the settlement and its application permits Petitioner to perpetrate

a fraud. Further, and for the reasons set forth in Respondent's contemporaneously filed *Motion to Dismiss Appeal*, the matter is not ripe for appeal.

Before delving into argument, Respondent is compelled to address an issue with how Petitioner has presented this appeal and lay the framework for this response. The issue before the circuit court when addressing Petitioner's motion to dismiss was somewhat unique because it required the court to first determine whether the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement applied to the underlying controversy. If the circuit court had determined that the 2015 Agreement applied, then the next issue before the circuit court would have been how the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement affected the underlying controversy, i.e. whether the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement required arbitration.

Most of the cases that have come before this Court have dealt with the application of a contract, and arbitration agreements within those contracts, that directly related to the controversy at hand. For instance, in *Credit Acceptance Corp.*, this Court considered the enforceability of retail installment contracts in connection with vehicle purchases, which contracts contained arbitration clauses. *Credit Acceptance Corp. v. Front*, 231 W. Va. 518, 520, 745 S.E.2d 556, 558 (2013). There was no dispute that the contracts were directly related to the controversy, as the Plaintiffs had executed the contracts when purchasing the vehicles. The only issue before the Court was the enforceability of the arbitration clauses contained in the contracts that were at the heart of the dispute.

In this case, and unlike *Credit Acceptance Corp.*, the lower court was presented with a contract unrelated to the underlying controversy. As a result, and to address the Petitioner's motion, the circuit court was faced with the initial question of whether the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement* applies to the underlying controversy. In its analysis, the circuit court

acknowledged to Petitioner's Counsel, "I agree with you that if there is a valid arbitration agreement the Hunnicutt sisters will have to go to arbitration but I don't know whether that valid that arbitration agreement in the release relating to dad's estate is applicable and can be enforced in dealing with mom's estate. So I would like to have some more information about that." (A.R. 82). By the circuit court's pronouncements, it is apparent that the circuit court addressed only the first question in its ruling, and kept open the possibility of revisiting that question after Petitioner provided additional authority and evidence supporting her contention.²

In her appeal, Petitioner focuses much argument on the second part of the analysis, specifically the validity of the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement* and its terms, including arbitration, rather than focusing on the primary issue of whether the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement* applies to the underlying controversy. Because Respondent views the primary issue in this case as whether a settlement agreement from an unrelated case applies to the controversy at hand, Respondent focuses her argument on that issue in response to the appeal.

The 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement does not apply to the underlying controversy in this case because 1) the parties, particularly Respondent, did not and could not have contemplated the existence of the underlying controversy at the time of executing the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement, 2) application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy would permit Petitioner to carry out a fraud, and 3) permitting the release of unknown controversies, for which the opposing party is presumably aware and fails to disclose, creates dangerous risk to litigants attempting to compromise and resolve claims.

.

² Because the circuit court's ruling on the first inquiry was not final, and for other reasons set forth therein, Respondent has filed her *Motion to Dismiss Appeal* for lack of an appealable order. Respondent incorporates her memorandum of law accompanying the motion for additional argument on that issue.

First, the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement does not apply to the underlying controversy because it was entered into and contemplated for purposes of settling claims relating to Petitioner's and Respondent's father's trust and estate. The 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement is not related, in any way, to Petitioner's tortious actions in entering into the Timber Sale Agreement and reaping the benefits of the timber sale for herself.

As this Court reaffirmed in *Woodrum v. Johnson*, 210 W.Va. 762, 771, 559 S.E.2d 908, 917 (2001), the law favors and encourages the resolution of controversies by contracts of compromise and settlement, rather than by litigation. Syl. pt. 1, *Sanders v. Roselawn Memorial Gardens*, 152 W.Va. 91, 159 S.E.2d 784 (1968). Nevertheless, settlement agreements are to be construed "as any other contract," *Floyd v. Watson*, 163 W.Va. 65, 68, 254 S.E.2d 687, 690 (1979), and, as noted in syllabus point 1 of *Martin v. Ewing*, 112 W.Va. 332, 164 S.E. 859 (1932): "A meeting of the minds of the parties is a sine qua non of all contracts." *Burdette v. Burdette Realty Improvement, Inc.*, 214 W. Va. 448, 452, 590 S.E.2d 641, 645 (2003). "A release ordinarily covers only such matters as may fairly be said to have been within the contemplation of the parties at the time of its execution." *Conley v. Hill*, 115 W. Va. 175, 174 S.E. 883 (1934), overruled on other grounds by *Thornton v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr.*, 158 W. Va. 504, 213 S.E.2d 102 (1975).

In this case, Petitioner attempts to hang her hat upon a "but not limited to" provision of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement as the basis for arguing that the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement applies to the underlying controversy. The Release and Settlement Agreement defines "CONTROVERSIES" as:

"[A]Il claims, disputes, controversies, causes of action, and demands, including, but not limited to, in connection with, relating to, or arising from the Trust, the Trust's assets, the Decedent, the Decedent's assets, the Decedent's Last Will and Testament, Decedent's Estate and the Civil Action, including but not limited to any other claim, cause of action, controversy, dispute, property, interest, entitlement, chose in action, or any other benefit whatever, whether known or unknown, and

wherever situate and in whatever form it may exist, whether based on federal or state law, statute or common law, and whether sounding at law or in equity...." (J.A. 35).

With regard to the release language of the *Release and Settlement Agreement*, it provides a release from the following:

"[A]ll claims, controversies, suits, demands, obligations, allegations (express and implied), rights, responsibilities, duties, obligations, remedies (including for any past or future accounting, fiduciary removal, or any other equitable entitlement or expectancy whatever), causes of action (and any and all related damages, payment, property, property interest. liabilities, losses. fees, attorney's fees, interest, costs, and expenses), including, **but not limited to**, the CONTROVERSIES (as defined in this Agreement), of any kind or character, whether now known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, whether sounding at law or in equity, whether arising by statute or under the common law, and whether provided for by state or federal law, which SUSAN has or may have, directly or indirectly, legally or beneficially, from the beginning of the world through the date of SUSAN's receipt of the Settlement Payment." (emphasis added). (J.A. 36).

Petitioner, in an effort to place a square peg through a round hole, contends the underlying controversy should be governed by the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement* because it falls within the "but not limited to" provision of the release.

Application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy, as Petitioner suggests, contradicts long-standing contract principles regarding meeting of the minds and contemplation of the parties. Presumably, Petitioner was aware of her tortious conduct and the removal of timber from the real estate prior to entering into the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement. And under Petitioner's argument in this case, she would be getting released from tortious liability for which Respondent was unaware. As a result, and under that argument, there could have been no meeting of the minds.

The weakness in Petitioner's argument is further illustrated with a hypothetical. Under Petitioner's argument, had Respondent stole Petitioner's identity and incurred thousands of dollars

of credit card debt in Petitioner's name prior to execution of the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement*, Petitioner would be left without a remedy. It is difficult to fathom that Petitioner, herself, believed the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement* to preclude relief in such an instance.

Additionally, the settlement funds for the 2015 litigation were paid from Petitioner's and Respondent's father's trust. At the time of executing the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement, Respondent could not have contemplated that she would be releasing Petitioner from unrelated tortious conduct based upon a payment from their late father's trust. And application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to that effect would only further Petitioner's attempt to escape liability at no cost or consequence to Petitioner. Because there could have been no meeting of the minds under the argument Petitioner seeks to advance; because Respondent, or any other reasonable person, would not have released Petitioner's tortious conduct for consideration paid from their father's trust: and because application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy could permit Petitioner to escape liability for her tortious conduct at no cost, the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement does not apply to the underlying controversy.

Second, application of the *Release and Settlement Agreement* to the underlying controversy would permit Petitioner to perpetrate a fraud. "Where parties have made a settlement..., such settlement is conclusive upon the parties thereto as to the correctness thereof in the absence of accident, mistake or fraud in making the same." Syl. Pt. 7, *DeVane v. Kennedy*, 205 W.Va. 519, 519 S.E.2d 622 (1999). "[A] settlement lacks good faith only upon a showing of corrupt intent by the settling plaintiff and joint tortfeasor, in that the settlement involved collusion, dishonesty, fraud or other tortious conduct." *Smith v. Monongahela Power Co.*, 189 W. Va. 237, 246, 429 S.E.2d 643, 652 (1993).

As Petitioner concedes in her motion to dismiss filed with the circuit court, "[I]t is the policy of the law to uphold and enforce such contracts if they are fairly made and are not in contravention of some law or public policy." Syl. Pt, 1, Sanders v. Roselawn Mem'l Gardens, Inc., 152 W. Va. 91, 91, 159 S.E.2d 784, 785 (1968). As this Court has provided, "the law favors and encourages the resolution of controversies by contracts of compromise and settlement." Berardi v. Meadowbrook Mall Co., 212 W. Va. 377, 382, 572 S.E.2d 900, 905 (2002).

In this case, application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy would permit Petitioner to perpetrate a fraud while preying upon the law favoring compromise and settlement. Petitioner knew, at the time of entering the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement, of her unlawful actions in selling the timber. Petitioner did not disclose the existence of the claim to Respondent at the settling and compromising the 2015 litigation surrounding their father's estate. Based upon Petitioner's argument advanced in this case, Petitioner sought, during the settlement and compromise of the litigation with her father's estate, to entice Respondent into entering an agreement where Petitioner would be released from liability for a claim she knew Respondent remained unaware. Because application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy would permit Petitioner to perpetrate a fraud and because application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement would be in contradiction of the law in West Virginia, the 2015 Release and Settlement agreement is not applicable to the underlying controversy.

Third, and for similar reasons, application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy would create a dangerous risk to litigants seeking to resolve and compromise claims. The circuit court, during the hearing on April 11, 2022, noted a hypothetical that if there is a global release after someone is injured in a car accident and settles with the at-

fault driver, does that preclude the at-fault driver from liability if he causes injury again. (J.A. 81). The hypothetical becomes more dangerous when applied to Petitioner's assertion that she can escape liability for her tortious actions that she had already perpetrated, for which she was presumably aware, and for which she failed to disclose. Further, permitting the release of such claims and unrelated tortious actions will serve only to squelch the law of this state favoring resolution of controversies by contracts of compromise and settlement. Because the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement does not apply to the underlying controversy, because application of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement to the underlying controversy would permit Petitioner to perpetrate a fraud, and because application of the unrelated settlement agreements to other controversies creates a dangerous precedent against the law of this State favoring compromise and settlement, Respondent respectfully requests that the relief sought in this appeal be denied and the matter remanded to the circuit court.

Before concluding, Respondent is compelled to address Petitioner's argument that the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement mandates that an arbiter decide whether the 2015 settlement applies to the underlying controversy. Petitioner's argument is without merit because Petitioner, again, seems to skip the first step of the analysis as to whether the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement applies to the underlying controversy. If that question were answered in the affirmative, then, and only then, would the question arise whether the arbitration provision of the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement mandates arbitration of the underlying controversy. And for the reasons set forth in this response, the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement does not apply to the underlying controversy. Therefore, Petitioner's argument that the circuit court is divested of jurisdiction and authority to determine whether the 2015 Release and Settlement Agreement applies to the underlying controversy is without merit.

Petitioner further argues that the circuit court's failure to make findings of fact and conclusions of law is indicative of the court's error, which argument is also without merit. For the circuit court to make findings of fact, evidence of facts must first be presented to the court. In this case, Petitioner filed only her unverified motion to dismiss, with the 2015 *Release and Settlement Agreement* attached, and an unverified answer to the Complaint. No evidence was presented to the circuit court on April 11, 2022. The only presentation made to the circuit court was oral argument of counsel, though the circuit court welcomed and invited Petitioner to submit evidence and additional authority to support her claim. Because the circuit court was not presented with factual evidence and because the circuit court welcomed Petitioner to submit evidence and additional authority, the circuit court's failure to set forth specific findings of fact and conclusions of law is not indicative of any error.

VII. CONCLUSION

In sum, this appeal is not properly before this Court for the reasons set forth in Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss Appeal. Regardless, the Release and Settlement Agreement does not apply to the underlying controversy because it governs the relationship of the parties only as it relates to the controversies surrounding the 2015 litigation over their father's estate; because Petitioner's unrelated, undisclosed, tortious actions were not contemplated at the time of the release, and if applied to this case, would permit Petitioner to perpetrate a fraud; and because application of the agreement to this controversy would create a dangerous risk to litigants seeking to compromise and settle their claims. Based thereon, Respondent respectfully requests that the relief sought by Petitioner be denied and the matter remanded to the circuit court.